This article first appeared in the Winter 1989 issue of Focus on Worship, a former publication of WELS Commission on Worship, James Tiefel, editor.

Trends and resources may change over the years, but the insights of this article are still useful for us today.

The Common Service: 1888-1988 

by James P. Tiefel

The month was April, the year, 1888. Three Lutheran pastors, one from Pottstown, PA, another from Charleston, SC, and a third from New York City sat in their respective studies pondering the birth of a liturgy. Nine years had passed since the three had begun working on the order. The service outline had been generally approved, but the complete edition was to be introduced in congregations for the first time during Holy Week ‑ Easter fell in April in 1888. The three men sent out their work with high hopes and higher ideals, at the same time realizing the service faced high obstacles. None of the three had any right to expect in April 1888, that one hundred years later, virtually every Lutheran church body in North America would have used the service for a good part of its history. The men were Beale Schmucker, George Wenner and Edward Horn and their liturgy went by the name of the Common Service.

1988 marked the 100th anniversary of the Common Service. Had it remained a regional or denominational order of service, neither its history nor any note of its anniversary would have crossed the pages of Focus. It remained neither. By 1912 the Common Service was the regular English liturgy of the Lutheran Church‑Missouri Synod and, by means of The Lutheran Hymnal (1941), it became our regular order of service, too. What we call “page 15” is almost word for word the Common Service of 1888, the service whose fate was pondered 101 years ago. It has been our service for 48 years now; parts of it served our congregations even longer. As it celebrates its anniversary and as we prepare to bid it farewell, we will derive benefit from a short study of its history, its formulating principles and, yes, its weaknesses, too.

American Lutheranism, ca. 1850

Lutherans in the eastern states were celebrating a hundred years of history by the time Midwestern Lutherans were just beginning to form synods (e.g., in Missouri and Wisconsin). For most of those hundred years eastern Lutherans had suffered from the same problems which had been affecting

Lutheranism in Germany since about 1650. The sound Biblical doctrine which Martin Luther had so faithfully defended and which his successors so carefully explained in confessional statements and congregational liturgies had been compromised by church leaders who tried to enforce correct doctrine with laws. Many Lutheran congregations in Germany ended up with doctrinally sound preachers and spiritually dead members. Thousands of faithful believers reacted to the problem in a movement called Pietism. Tragically, the Pietists failed to see that the trouble was not with correct doctrine but with legalistic enforcement. Their blurry vision lead them to rid their churches of everything which had been part of the correct doctrine era, especially the Lutheran Confessions and the Lutheran liturgy. Pietists did love the Scriptures, but when God‑defying humanism attacked the Bible in the last part of the 18th century, the Pietists, without doctrinal confessions or a doctrinal liturgy, were defenseless. Rationalism came through the gates, subjecting God’s word to human judgment and Christian behavior to human determination.

Both Pietism and Rationalism made their way to America and into America’s Lutheran churches. A Wisconsin Synod visitor to a Lutheran church in New York in 1850 might not have been able to detect a difference between Lutheranism and Calvinism ‑- or even Unitarianism. He would have heard little talk of the Lutheran Confessions and less mention of the Lutheran liturgies. Pietistic church services consisted of little more than several emotional hymns, a strong confession of sins and a lengthy Christ‑centered sermon. Rationalistic services eliminated both sin in the confession and the Savior in the sermon.

Eventually, there was a conservative reaction. It began in Germany and spread to America. A number of Lutheran leaders began to contend for the confessions again and, to help the laypeople rediscover the truths of the Bible, they began to restudy and reclaim the historic Lutheran order of service. By 1868 a liturgy had been composed which was very similar to that of Reformation times. It was still incomplete and was used only by one church group. In 1879 the three Lutheran synods in the East decided to join hands and work on an order of service which would be truly Lutheran, would have all the necessary ingredients and could be used in common by all congregations of all three church bodies.

The Common Service is born

Since the new liturgy was intended to help reclaim historic Lutheran doctrine, the framers of the CS looked first to historic Lutheran liturgies. They were determined to frame an order of service which was derived from “the common consent of the pure Lutheran liturgies of the sixteenth century...” That premise determined that the new service should restore the introits, graduals, collects and proper prefaces, all of which had been eliminated by the Pietists. The book which contained the CS included a full set of each of those forms and their inclusion helped to reestablish the use of the Christian Church Year, another victim of the previous era.

A similar conservative reaction in the Church of England fostered a massive translation movement, and the CS framers found many historic materials ready for use in their English‑language liturgy. Our traditional version of the Lord’s Prayer is a product of this Church of England influence as was the inclusion in the new liturgy book of Matins and Vespers, the morning and evening prayer services so loved by the Anglicans. The music of the service was also of English descent (what we call Anglican chant: cf. TLH’s Gloria in Excelsis, Venite in Matins and Nunc Dimittis in Vespers), although music was not composed for the service until 1891.

The Common Service was a milestone. For the first time since the days of Luther himself, the Lutheran Church possessed an order of service which was faithful to the historic Christian liturgy and which could be used in its complete form in the language of the people. Although he desired to, even Luther was not able to attain the last two of those goals completely.

The Use of the Common Service

Lutherans all over the English‑speaking world recognized the excellence of the CS and within fifty years of its formation it was the regular English order of service in almost every Lutheran church body. It appeared in Missouri’s 1912 English hymnal and part of it was in Wisconsin’s 1920 Book of Hymns. The WELS began to use the entire service in 1941 when The Lutheran Hymnal appeared. The joint ALC/LCA production of Service Book and Hymnal in 1958 added a litany kyrie, an Old Testament lesson and a eucharistic prayer to the order, but basically the CS remained intact until 1978 and the publication of Lutheran Book of Worship.

The Latter Days of the Common Service

The framers of the new order in LBW (which eventually appeared in Lutheran Worship, Missouri’s 1982 hymnal) recognized both the strengths and the weaknesses of the Common Service. They tended to retain the strengths and tried to solve the weaknesses. Both in language and musical style, the CS had fallen hopelessly behind the times. Anglican chant had never been popular with 20th century Americans and the dozens of new Bible translations ended the use of (although, in many cases, not the desire for!) Elizabethan language. The CS authors wanted, in 1888, to be historical and so included the long‑forgotten introit and kyrie; they also wanted to be pragmatic and retained the popular opening hymn and confession of sins. The result was two entrance songs hymn and introit ‑ and two perceived confessions ‑ confession and kyrie. Many felt that complete psalms were more beneficial in worship than the disjointed psalm verses which had made up the old introits. The gradual, often a mystery to worshipers, was replaced by the short alleluia verse with texts from the New Testament. The propers of the CS obviously had reflected the historic lectionary. A new set of propers ‑ psalms, verses, prayers for the day (collects) ‑were arranged for the three year lectionary. The Gloria in Excelsis had been an unchangeable part of the CS; it became one option as the major song of praise in the new service. Finally, the CS had instructed the worshipers in the communion section that it was “truly meet, right and salutary to give thanks” to God, but had not offered a form for congregational thanksgiving. The new liturgy added the historic thanksgiving (Eucharistic) prayer to help solve the problem.

Preserving the Legacy

The service offered to American Lutheranism in general and to WELS Lutherans in particular the first historical, orthodox Lutheran liturgy in their history. It reestablished the church year in our synod and solidified in many hearts the great truths of the scriptures. But the service had weaknesses which cannot be overlooked. Worship leaders among us will need to help people understand that the loss of the CS need not mean the loss of its strengths. Our new liturgies retain the strengths and, in many cases, highlight them. The new liturgies will also try to solve CS weaknesses in language, music and form and will, thereby, serve 20th century worshipers more adequately. Finally, our members will benefit by knowing that the CS was just one version of a liturgy which has endured in Christendom for 18 centuries. That ancient rite has appeared in countless forms and in hundreds of languages and styles. It has been adapted by every generation of Christians and will continue to be adapted hopefully ‑- as long as God allows the world to endure. Such adaptation is itself a sign of spiritual strength for, in a changing world, faithful believers must constantly search for the best ways to proclaim and to praise the changeless Christ. 
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